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          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Good morning,

          3  everybody. Welcome to today's meeting of the City

          4  Council Committee on Transportation. My name is John

          5  Liu and I have the privilege of chairing this

          6  Committee. Let me first apologize for starting a bit

          7  late this morning, but I am happy to see everyone

          8  here.

          9                 We will today be considering three

         10  bills. The first is proposed Intro. No. 14-A, which

         11  would regulate newsracks. Newsracks are the

         12  self-service vending boxes located on sidewalks that

         13  are used for the distribution of newspapers or other

         14  written matter, and the Council has put forth

         15  legislation to regulate these newsracks for the

         16  purpose of maintaining safety on sidewalks for

         17  pedestrians.

         18                 The second bill to be considered

         19  today is proposed Intro. No. 116-A. It relates to

         20  the operation of bicycles on sidewalks. Today's

         21  hearing is the second hearing on both of these

         22  bills, which were previously heard by this Committee

         23  on April 25th of 2002. The Committee intends to vote

         24  on both of these bills today.

         25                 The third bill to be heard today,
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          2  which will not be voted on today, is Intro. No. 157,

          3  which would prohibit the operation standing or

          4  parking of mobile billboards, and these mobile

          5  billboards are basically motor vehicles which have

          6  no purpose other than to present a message or to

          7  advertise.

          8                 Time is somewhat short today, due to

          9  the budget process that we're in the midst of, and I

         10  know many of my fellow committee members will need

         11  to be in multiple places at the same time.

         12  Therefore, let's get started right away with the

         13  meeting today, and we will first call up the panel

         14  to present testimony, that the first panel will be

         15  Vanessa Gruen, the Municipal Arts Society, and Ellen

         16  Cavanaugh, from Transportation Alternatives. Thank

         17  you for your testimony this morning.

         18                 While they're getting ready, let me

         19  mention the next panel, which will comprise of

         20  Barbara Cohen from Village Voice and Constance

         21  Boland from USA Today.

         22                 Good morning.

         23                 MS. GRUEN: I'm very honored to be the

         24  first one to testify today. The Municipal Arts

         25  Society has been testifying for some kind of
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          2  regulations with the newsracks on our sidewalks for

          3  many, many years now, and we finally feel that this

          4  new Council is getting very, very close to enacting

          5  a bill and we're very, very pleased with it.

          6                 I'm not so pleased with some of the

          7  new things that I see in 14-A, and I would like to

          8  point out that in the previous bill that was sent to

          9  us that we got on the 16th, you used the language

         10  within a corner quadrant area as to where you are

         11  not allowed to place newsracks.

         12                 The new language now says just in a

         13  corner area, and I feel that that is very poorly

         14  defined. We would like to see all newsracks placed

         15  ten feet from the corner quadrant. That's a very,

         16  very important issue. All street furniture that goes

         17  on a sidewalk in New York City is required to be ten

         18  feet from the corner quadrant. I cannot understand

         19  why the newsracks don't have to follow this same

         20  kind of executive order that is in place, and we

         21  strongly, strongly urge the Council to reconsider

         22  that portion of this bill.

         23                 Another issue that we have is that

         24  the enforcement mechanism is very, very cumbersome

         25  and very weak. We would like to see the Council
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          2  strengthen it a little and maybe reduce the amount

          3  of days before the penalties go into effect.

          4                 I understand that you're trying to do

          5  this in conjunction with the Environmental Control

          6  Board and you're trying to adhere to their schedule,

          7  but if we feel that something could be -- this

          8  language could be tightened up and we would be glad

          9  to work with the Council and have our lawyers

         10  address this issue with you, because we feel that

         11  it's a very serious flaw.

         12                 And then there is another section in

         13  the new bill which requires that an empty newsbox

         14  after seven days be locked up, and that is so that I

         15  guess trash can't be placed in it. But I can't quite

         16  understand why one of these newsracks have to be on

         17  the street for 14 days locked up, not distributing

         18  any kind of material, before it's required to be

         19  removed.

         20                 I mean, this is for the distribution

         21  of -- if you're wondering, this is -- well, I don't

         22  have the section down. It's section 3.2 is the

         23  section where it alludes to that.

         24                 So, I mean, if these newsracks are

         25  distributing written material that's protected by
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          2  the First Amendment, I think they should be required

          3  to have something in them and not just to be allowed

          4  to stand on the sidewalk as a locked box.

          5                 Meanwhile, I've submitted some

          6  testimony and be glad to answer any questions. Thank

          7  you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Would you mind

          9  summarizing the basic message of your testimony for

         10  us on the record.

         11                 MS. GRUEN: Well, do you want me to

         12  read my testimony that I've written? Basically we

         13  are in favor of this City Council passing this bill.

         14  We would like you to strengthen some of the

         15  language. And for instance, we are very, very

         16  strongly for the ten feet from the corner quadrant.

         17  We would very much like you to incorporate that

         18  within your regulations.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         20                 Next we'll hear from Ellen Cavanaugh

         21  from Transportation Alternatives.

         22                 MS. CAVANAUGH: Hi. My name is Ellen

         23  Cavanaugh, I'm with Transportation Alternatives. We

         24  are New York's advocates for pedestrians and

         25  cyclists.
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          2                 Transportation Alternatives has

          3  testified on this issue a number of times in the

          4  past and in the previous hearing last month, two

          5  months ago, and we are still in support of 14-A.

          6  However, we do share the Municipal Art Society's

          7  concerns with the strength of the language and the

          8  enforceability of the lines at stands. It does need

          9  to be made both simpler and more direct, to give the

         10  Department of Transportation the Authority to

         11  regulate the placement of these boxes, not to fully

         12  ban these, which is not the spirit of this law or

         13  any law, to provide for the freedom of speech, but

         14  to also provide for freedom of movement of New

         15  Yorkers on sidewalks and safe movement and clear

         16  passage. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         18  Are there any questions from the Committee members?

         19                 Thank you for coming down this

         20  morning.

         21                 We will have our next panel comprised

         22  of Barbara Cohen from the Village Voice, and

         23  Constance Boland from USA Today. And while they're

         24  preparing, our next panel will be Dr. Joy Zagoren,

         25  from the East 79th Street Neighborhood Association.
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          2                 Okay, we'll hear from you a little

          3  later.

          4                 Then why don't we also have at this

          5  point, Jeff Fligelman, from Gotham Writers Workshop.

          6                 Jeff, if you could join the current

          7  panel, and just go third on this panel.

          8                 And then let me mention then the

          9  panel following this current one will be Phil

         10  Damashek, from DOT, Department of Transportation,

         11  and Andrea Hirsch, also from DOT.

         12                 Ms. Cohen.

         13                 MS. COHEN: Good morning. My name is

         14  Barbara Cohen. I am here representing the Village

         15  Voice, and the other newspapers and newsracks owners

         16  with whom I've testified together previously.

         17                 On behalf of the Village Voice, I

         18  want to say that we support this bill. I also want

         19  to thank the Chair and Council Member Moskowitz and

         20  the other Council members who have worked so hard on

         21  this bill, and I also wanted to thank the Department

         22  of Transportation for its spirit of cooperativeness.

         23  I think from my vantage point this seemed to be a

         24  model of how people with sometimes overlapping,

         25  sometimes divergent, and sometimes similar interests
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          2  can come together, and I think that this bill

          3  reflects a very careful and thoughtful compromise

          4  and something that I think we'll see the immediate

          5  effects of once it's in place.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          8                 MS. BOLAND: Thank you very much,

          9  Chairman Liu.

         10                 Connie Boland, of Nixon Peabody,

         11  representing USA Today. I would just ever so briefly

         12  like to address the Committee and all of the members

         13  of the Committee and the staff of the Council

         14  present here today. Thank you for the opportunity.

         15  In response to some of the comments made earlier by

         16  our colleagues from the Municipal Arts Society, I

         17  would just like to state for the record, that

         18  certainly the corner area is well defined and

         19  clearly defined in the current draft of Bill 14-A. I

         20  would submit that there's no need to strengthen the

         21  language. The language of the bill as written gives

         22  DOT and the Board the authority to remove the empty

         23  racks from the streets and at the same time it

         24  places certain limitations on the placement and the

         25  maintenance of clean racks by the publications and
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          2  newspapers that are respectful of important First

          3  Amendment rights of the newspaper that maintain the

          4  rack, and we look forward to seeing the bill enacted

          5  and enforced.

          6                 Most importantly, I would like to

          7  reiterate what Ms. Cohen has said about the spirit

          8  of collegiality and the professionalism that we at

          9  USA Today and all of the other newspapers have

         10  experienced in working with this Committee and with

         11  members of DOT and the staff from the Council. At

         12  every turn you were all professional, intelligent,

         13  decisive, and pragmatic. I would like to

         14  specifically compliment Council Member Moskowitz on

         15  when she needed to be tough, she was, and when she

         16  had to, and at the same time she was extremely

         17  respectful, open-minded, she listened to all of our

         18  needs and our concerns, and I believe that all of

         19  the concerns are reflected in the legislation that

         20  is before the Committee today.

         21                 Most importantly, I would just like

         22  to say that you've acted in good faith with us, and

         23  it gives us great confidence going forward to work

         24  with this Committee, with the Council and with DOT

         25  on a going forward basis. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          3                 Mr. Fligelman.

          4                 MR. FLIGELMAN: Hello. Thank you for

          5  having me. Again, my name is Jeff fligelman. I'm a

          6  writer, a teacher and a co-founder of Gotham Writers

          7  Workshop, a grassroots educational organization that

          8  was born here in New York City.

          9                 Gotham Writers Workshop is a school

         10  which serves New York by offering writing classes,

         11  creative writing classes, in areas such as poetry,

         12  playwrighting and fiction writing. We employ a

         13  full-time staff of 13 people and over 100 part-time

         14  teachers.

         15                 As I have testified to previously, we

         16  want to be good neighbors and we appreciate the need

         17  for regulation.

         18                 We agree that newsracks should not be

         19  in crosswalks, driveways, next to fire hydrants and

         20  bus stops or in front of entrances to subways.

         21                 The racks should be kept in good

         22  repair and damage racks should be removed

         23  expeditiously.

         24                 Further, we understand the need to

         25  carry insurance. And thus, we deservedly support
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          2  this bill.

          3                 Our first reservation, though,

          4  involves the ultimate consequences of the passage of

          5  this bill and the intent of the Council.

          6                 So, I take this opportunity to ask

          7  you, to ask you now, if the bill is passed, and we

          8  place our racks appropriately, maintain them

          9  properly, carry the necessary insurance and report

         10  their whereabouts as prescribed by law, is it your

         11  intention that we will be able to continue to use

         12  our same newsracks?

         13                 Our second reservation involves the

         14  absence of any specific protection for publishers.

         15  As was testified to here on April 25th, people

         16  deliberately throw into the trash all of the copies

         17  of the free publications. They just throw them away,

         18  and they deliberately vandalize the newsracks. You

         19  heard that testimony. We are disheartened by the

         20  absence of any language, specifically the finding as

         21  a violation, the interference with the display, sale

         22  or distribution of written matter, and, so, I ask

         23  why the omission?

         24                 Our final reservation still involves

         25  the ultimate language of the bill and the role of
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          2  the DOT. We are heartened by the fact that the

          3  current bill does cede too much authority to the

          4  DOT.

          5                 In the past, DOT's own draft rules,

          6  which, again, I have here, banned plastic newsracks.

          7  The effect of the rules was clear, to remove all of

          8  our racks from the streets and put us out of

          9  business.

         10                 And thus, as earlier versions of the

         11  bill, again, earlier versions of the bill would have

         12  ceded unnecessary authority to a department that has

         13  already made it clear they would like to dismantle

         14  our organization wherever vigilant when any new law

         15  is being considered.

         16                 Simply put, the future of our school

         17  lies in your hands. We are teachers and writers, we

         18  are not wealthy and we cannot afford to litigate any

         19  of these issues. Instead, we look to you, members of

         20  the Committee, to protect not only our rights under

         21  the first amendment, but our livelihood.

         22                 We hope to continue to have input

         23  into this process, we hope to work with you, and we

         24  are available to meet at any time.

         25                 In closing, we're confident the
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          2  Council can pass a law which serves the needs of the

          3  City, without closing down our school.

          4                 Thank you very much for your time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          6  Any questions from our Committee members?

          7                 Thank you for coming down this

          8  morning.

          9                 We can now have the next panel, which

         10  will be two individuals from the Department of

         11  Transportation, Phil Damashek and Andrea Hirsch. And

         12  while they're preparing, let me also echo some of

         13  the comments that were made by the previous panel

         14  which would be that our Council Member Eva Moskowitz

         15  from Manhattan has worked on this bill for quite

         16  some time now, and Eva being a senior member of the

         17  City Council, and, so, I certainly appreciate all of

         18  the work that you've put in, Council Member

         19  Moskowitz.

         20                 This bill is, again, it's not an

         21  attempt to do anything against the newspapers or

         22  media or violate any kind of rights. It's simply an

         23  attempt to balance the need for freedom of

         24  expression, as well as the need to maintain clear

         25  and safe sidewalks for the pedestrians in an
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          2  ever-crowded city.

          3                 At this point, let me also point out

          4  that we are joined today by Council Member Helen

          5  Sears from Queens, Council Member Joseph Addabbo

          6  from Queens, Council Member Miguel Martinez from

          7  Manhattan, and Council Member Diana Reyna from

          8  Brooklyn, and also Council Member Oliver Koppell,

          9  who just stepped out for a second, but he's sitting

         10  to my right, from the Bronx. And my legislative

         11  Council, Mitch Schwarts, who I think many of you

         12  know very well, and my legislative director, John

         13  Cho, standing in the back.

         14                 Our next panel will be Mr. Damashek.

         15                 MS. HORSCH: Good morning. I'm Andra

         16  Horsch. I'm the Director of Intergovernmental

         17  Affairs for the Department of Transportation. Beside

         18  me is Philip Damashek, he's the General Counsel at

         19  DOT.

         20                 Chairman Liu and members of the

         21  Transportation Committee, thank you for inviting me

         22  here to testify today on Intro. 14-A, relating to

         23  the regulation of newsracks.

         24                 I am happy to report that we have

         25  made great strides in negotiating with the Council
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          2  on this legislation since we last testified before

          3  this Committee on April 25th. We have had numerous

          4  meetings and discussions on this bill and real

          5  progress has in fact been made.

          6                 While we are generally pleased with

          7  the direction of the amended bill, there are three

          8  remaining yet crucial issues that remain problematic

          9  and which prevent us from giving this bill our

         10  support.

         11                 First, the placement criteria stated

         12  in this legislation with regard to the corner area

         13  presents a public safety concern. It should include

         14  the corner quadrant.

         15                 Secondly, we do not understand why

         16  there is still not recognition in the bill of the

         17  explicit rule-making authority of DOT.

         18                 Thirdly, the language stating that

         19  any limitation on newsracks placement, "shall be as

         20  minimally restrictive as possible in order to ensure

         21  the safe and unobstructed flow of pedestrian

         22  passage, invites legal challenges each and every

         23  time the agency seeks to establish criteria for the

         24  placement or installation of newsracks on the

         25  grounds that it is not minimal enough."
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          2                 For these reasons, while we certainly

          3  commend the effort that was put forth in this bill,

          4  we regretfully aren't able to give it our support.

          5                 I am hopeful that together we will be

          6  able to address these areas of concerns and draft a

          7  more workable and realistic bill.

          8                 Again, I want to reiterate that we

          9  are very much open to further discussions on these

         10  few remaining yet crucial issues that we are

         11  confident can be worked out.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. Do you

         13  have your written testimony today?

         14                 MS. HORSCH: I can submit it.

         15                 MR. DAMASHEK: Ms. Horsch basically

         16  has read a statement. We don't have written

         17  testimony to submit but the statement basically

         18  reflects the views of the Commissioner of the

         19  Department of Transportation.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay. So, is that

         21  something that we can get a copy of?

         22                 MR. DAMASHEK: We can submit something

         23  later, if you want.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: That would be

         25  terrific.
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          2                 Phil.

          3                 MR. DAMASHEK: That basically is the

          4  position of the Department. Unfortunately the

          5  Department at this point can't support the bill.

          6                 We do believe that there are very few

          7  but crucial issues that still remain to be

          8  negotiated and discussed, and I want to reiterate

          9  the Department and my Commissioner's invitation to

         10  sit down with the Council and work out the few

         11  remaining but crucial issues, which without those

         12  being resolved, the Department and the

         13  Administration cannot support.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         15  for your time this morning.

         16                 I hope that it's something that we

         17  can continue to work on together between the Council

         18  and the Department of Transportation. And the

         19  various other interested parties. Today's public

         20  hearing is a result of countless hours of meetings

         21  and discussions that we have all been party to, and

         22  so I think it's appropriate that today we vote on

         23  this bill.

         24                 Are there any other speakers? I know

         25  we have a few other speakers but they have indicated
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          2  that they're speaking on the bicycle bill. There are

          3  some people who have not indicated which bill they

          4  would like to testify about. So, is there anybody

          5  else here this morning who would like to testify on

          6  proposed Intro. 14-A?

          7                 Okay, while this witness is

          8  preparing, we have comments from Council Member

          9  Helen Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 I just wanted to comment that the

         13  work that has been done on this bill has been very

         14  extensive, and I know that certainly the support of

         15  the DOT has been solicited and actually I think very

         16  important, very necessary.

         17                 I'm a little confused as to why, with

         18  this going on for so long and with Councilwoman

         19  Moskowitz, with our chair working on this, are those

         20  issues so complex that they could not have been

         21  ironed out prior to this hearing? Because we are

         22  going to vote on it, and it's disappointing that we

         23  vote without the input from the DOT.

         24                 I'm led to believe that the

         25  complexities of the issues that are raised by DOT
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          2  are more than anything. I just had to have that

          3  comment, because I know the DOT, we work very well

          4  with you. They're an agency that I work well with

          5  and very cooperative and I'm very appreciative of

          6  that. It seems a little unclear as to why we have

          7  reached this point, and there still is no really

          8  important input from an agency, because I would

          9  regard your support as being very important.

         10                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         12                 Council Member Yassky.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you very

         14  much, Mr. Chairman. And thank you for giving me the

         15  opportunity to make a very short statement today.

         16  I'm not a member of the Committee, but this is an

         17  issue that I believe is extremely important and I

         18  very much appreciate your giving me the chance to

         19  comment.

         20                 I really wanted simply to commend and

         21  congratulate both yourself and Council Member

         22  Moskowitz for the tremendous work you've done on

         23  this legislation.

         24                 The bill was, I thought, a terrific

         25  bill when introduced, it's even better now.
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          2                 I particularly congratulate you for

          3  the inclusion of language dealing with what happens

          4  when these news boxes become basically trash cans.

          5  Because, no question, newsboxes serve an important

          6  purpose, they help people get newspapers and other

          7  material and they help the newspapers and other

          8  purveyors of printed matter get their materials to

          9  the public, very important function, no question.

         10  But when they become a blight on the neighborhood,

         11  then you need some regulation and I think your bill

         12  strikes that balance.

         13                 I was particularly glad to see, as I

         14  say, that you've included language dealing with what

         15  happens when a newsbox becomes basically a trash

         16  can. That is what happens in my neighborhood. The

         17  newsboxes get filled with trash, litter, then that

         18  litter spills out onto the street, and it becomes

         19  very unsightly and unhealthy. And I think that if I

         20  understand it, your bill would permit the removal of

         21  the trash cans, of newsboxes that have become trash

         22  cans after the owner has failed to respond to a

         23  violation.

         24                 So, I think that is a tremendous

         25  improvement, and I commend you for it and for all
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          2  the work you've done.

          3                 There is one remaining issue that I

          4  believe could be improved even further, and that

          5  would be to permit some variation among

          6  neighborhoods.

          7                 What makes sense in Grand Central,

          8  may not be the same as what makes sense in Brooklyn

          9  Heights or in Flushing or in Riverdale, and I

         10  believe that if you were to give with this

         11  legislation, if you were to give BIDs, Business

         12  Improvement Districts, authority to set the rules

         13  for within their own district, I think that you'd be

         14  improving the bill even further by allowing each

         15  neighborhood to set the rules that would make sense

         16  for that neighborhood.

         17                 So, I hope that you'll take that

         18  proposal into consideration as this bill moves

         19  through the process, but, Mr. Chairman, and Council

         20  Member Moskowitz, I again want to commend you for

         21  your tremendous work on this very important bill.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much,

         23  Council Member Yassky.

         24                 We have a clarification from Council

         25  Member Moskowitz.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 I just wanted to clarify for the

          5  record, and, unfortunately, the folks from DOT left,

          6  but I just wanted to make sure that the public

          7  understood that as late as Friday before Memorial

          8  Day weekend, the staff spent countless hours with

          9  DOT trying to resolve the outstanding issues, and

         10  the public should know that both the newspaper

         11  industry wanted certain changes which we did not

         12  agree to, and ultimately there were changes that DOT

         13  wanted. We tried very hard to strike a balance

         14  between clearly protecting the First Amendment, but

         15  rejecting the wild west atmosphere that we are

         16  currently operating in.

         17                 I represent the East Side of

         18  Manhattan, which is overwhelmed by boxes which have

         19  not behaved appropriately in terms of respecting

         20  pedestrian safety and public safety. So, I just

         21  wanted to clarify no one should leave this room

         22  thinking that we did not spend hours with the agency

         23  trying to be as accommodating as we could, and

         24  giving maximum flexibility while still retaining our

         25  fundamental principles.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We do have one

          4  additional panel, and this will be the final panel

          5  on the hearing of this bill.

          6                 We have Michael Domma, and Carl

          7  Weisbrod. Carl Weisbrod being from the Downtown

          8  Alliance.

          9                 Before you begin, gentlemen, we have

         10  comments from Council Member Sears.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair, I'll be very quick.

         13                 In response to Councilman Yassky's

         14  comments, I think they're very valid.

         15                 I have a BID in several -- and I

         16  worked on one and I ran one for quite awhile, and

         17  BIDs, in order to really be more effective in what

         18  their goals and missions are, need to have some

         19  authority. They need to have some authority for

         20  those objects or things that basically do interfere

         21  with the harmony and the continuity of what that BID

         22  is about, and I would urge that as this bill moves

         23  along, that that be taken into consideration.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.
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          2                 Mr. Domma.

          3                 MR. DEMMA: Demma. Demma. My name is

          4  Michael Demma.

          5                 Good morning to you all. Good

          6  morning. Eighteen months ago I submitted a report on

          7  my disappointment with the newsracks in the fashion

          8  that they were.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Can you speak closer

         10  to the mic?

         11                 MR. DEMMA: Closer? Okay.

         12                 Eighteen months ago I submitted a

         13  report to the Mayor's Office in my disappointment

         14  with the way the newsracks were fashioned all over

         15  the streets, and the Commissioner Iris Weinshall

         16  wrote me back a nice letter saying she could agree

         17  with me to a degree. And it was nice that she wrote

         18  me back, and the work that I put there with some

         19  evidence and some photographs wasn't going to get

         20  lost.

         21                 But it's nice that we're going

         22  forward with this, because to stay status quo and

         23  possibly leave it alone would just overwhelm the

         24  streets, as the bill introduces basically on the

         25  first page.
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          2                 I was at the last hearing, and I

          3  wanted to say something then, but I do like the

          4  Village Voice and the New York Press. I think

          5  they're nice papers, you know? But it's time to come

          6  in off the street and, like, maybe distribute these

          7  nice newspapers in a more responsible fashion, and

          8  it's honorable that they expressed this morning

          9  their lack of such over the years and months. So,

         10  it's nice that it's being observed. But I think

         11  they're a great newspaper, and to see them totally

         12  put aside will not be nice. Maybe Starbucks, an

         13  account with Starbucks or hotels and things like

         14  that, people like reading those papers.

         15                 As far as the advertising, those

         16  other smaller ones, like Poconos real estate and

         17  other things, dance clubs, that's questionable, of

         18  course. But I'm looking forward to having some

         19  regulation with this bill here. It's about time. I

         20  think all of us will appreciate it. And thank you

         21  very much, and peace be with you all.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thanks for your time

         23  this morning.

         24                 Mr. Weisbrod.

         25                 MR. WEISBROD: Thank you very much,
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          2  Mr. Chairman.

          3                 I am the President of the Downtown

          4  Alliance, the manager of the Downtown Lower

          5  Manhattan Business Improvement District, but I am

          6  here today as the president of the BID Managers

          7  Association, representing the managers of New York

          8  City's 44 Business Improvement Districts. And on

          9  behalf of the BID managers, I want to commend the

         10  Council, and particularly you, Mr. Chairman, and

         11  Council Member Moskowitz, for your willingness to

         12  address the issues surrounding the placement of free

         13  and paid newspaper vending machines on the City's

         14  sidewalks.

         15                 I also want to thank, as well, the

         16  Department of Transportation Commissioner Weinshall

         17  for her involvement in this issue, and for her

         18  efforts to improve the ability of DOT to establish

         19  appropriate rules and enforcement procedures.

         20                 In our view, Intro. 14-A is a very

         21  commendable step in the right direction. In

         22  establishing specific guidelines for the size and

         23  location of newsracks, the bill improves on the

         24  current unregulated placement of these structures.

         25                 Over the past five years, increasing
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          2  numbers of newsracks have been located on City

          3  sidewalks adding to sidewalk congestion. The BIDs

          4  report that many of these newsracks are located

          5  within Crosswalks, and that newsracks are frequently

          6  covered with graffiti and less empty collecting

          7  trash.

          8                 They create significant public safety

          9  and sanitation concerns.

         10                 These concerns exist Citywide in

         11  central business districts and in neighborhood

         12  shopping areas throughout the five boroughs.

         13  Therefore, we support the bill's provisions that

         14  require newsracks to be maintained in a continuous

         15  use, and require the controlling party to ensure the

         16  newsracks and indemnify the City for losses arising

         17  out of the placement, installation or maintenance of

         18  the newsracks.

         19                 We believe that the proposal could be

         20  strengthened by granting DOT the authority to

         21  establish requirements for the appearance and

         22  construction of newsracks, as well as limiting the

         23  number of newsracks in every blockface.

         24                 To enhance the bill's effectiveness,

         25  we also urge you to strengthen the enforcement
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          2  provisions. The provisions should make it clear that

          3  the newsrack owner bears the responsibility to

          4  ensure compliance.

          5                 To accomplish this, there needs to be

          6  a shorter cure period for non-compliant boxes and

          7  appropriate penalties.

          8                 As the bill is currently drafted, it

          9  could take as much as six weeks, maybe more, for a

         10  non-compliant or abandoned newsrack to be removed

         11  from the sidewalk. During this period the offending

         12  rack obstructs the free flow of pedestrian traffic

         13  and could present serious sanitation, safety and

         14  security concerns.

         15                 Furthermore, in our view, the Council

         16  should make a legislative determination that if a

         17  newsrack is not used for the purposes intended for

         18  21 days, it should be deemed abandoned and may be

         19  removed from the street at that time, period.

         20                 We also recommend that enforcement be

         21  shared by DOT and DOS, and Department of

         22  Sanitation's local sanitation officers are on the

         23  streets every day, and have an extensive knowledge

         24  of local neighborhood characteristics and concerns.

         25                 In addition, penalties for violations
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          2  should reflect the actual enforcement costs, and the

          3  community, including the cost to regularly monitor

          4  newsracks, hold hearings and remove violating racks.

          5  By shortening the enforcement period and increasing

          6  penalties to reflect actual enforcement cost,

          7  newsrack owners will bear the burden of ensuring

          8  that their newsracks are maintained in accordance

          9  with the law.

         10                 We also recommend the bill be

         11  modified to authorize DOT to immediately require

         12  compliance with the insurance provisions. DOT should

         13  not have to go to a lengthy notice and hearing

         14  process, if the owner failed to provide the

         15  necessary insurance coverage.

         16                 As you may know, BIDs are frequently

         17  listed as defendants in any lawsuit arising out of

         18  an incident within their districts. To help cover

         19  them and us from lawsuits or other incidents arising

         20  out of the placement of newsracks within districts,

         21  we request that local Business Improvement Districts

         22  be added to the indemnification insurance provisions

         23  for newsracks located within our respective

         24  districts.

         25                 We also note that the law takes
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          2  effect 180 days after its enactment, and that

          3  newsracks previously installed in any sidewalk are

          4  granted a period of 60 days after that to come into

          5  compliance.

          6                 The 180-day period between enactment

          7  and effective date should provide owners of existing

          8  newsracks ample time to comply with the law's

          9  provisions.

         10                 We therefore recommend that existing

         11  newsracks be required to comply with all the law's

         12  requirements, including the requirement of

         13  notification to the City of newsrack location, as

         14  well as the law's effective date.

         15                 Finally, the bill should recognize

         16  the important role of BIDs in beautifying and

         17  maintaining City sidewalks for the benefit of

         18  pedestrians, businesses and property owners alike.

         19                 Business serve as testing grounds for

         20  many successful beautification and public space

         21  management programs. All the BIDs are concerned

         22  about the look, placement, proliferation and

         23  maintenance of street furniture installed within

         24  their district.

         25                 To help address the current problem
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          2  of unsightly and poorly maintained newsracks,

          3  several BIDs have considered investing significant

          4  resources in attractive multi-rack structures.

          5                 These programs have been very

          6  successful where they've been implemented.

          7                 Any proposal adopted by the Council

          8  should recognize and build on these programs, by

          9  recognizing the role of BIDs in maintaining the

         10  streetscape and prohibiting the placement of other

         11  newsracks in locations where a BID has implemented a

         12  multi-rack strategy.

         13                 A couple of proposals introduced into

         14  the Council over the past year have including Intro.

         15  943-A, introduced last year by Council Member Dear

         16  and Intro. 92, introduced recently by Council Member

         17  Yassky.

         18                 We appreciate the efforts of these

         19  and other Council members to include the BIDs in the

         20  process, and we'd be happy to work with you to

         21  further develop these provisions.

         22                 As I previously testified, the BIDs

         23  see themselves as partners of City government, in

         24  achieved broadly desired quality of life

         25  improvements in the City. To that end, we, the BID

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            35

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  Managers Association, formed a committee to work

          3  with you and the Administration on these issues, as

          4  well as other quality of life issues affecting

          5  streetscapes. And we'd be happy to work with you, if

          6  you call on us, to further define this legislation,

          7  or improve it after it's adopted.

          8                 Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         10  for your thoughtful testimony.

         11                 Are there any questions from the

         12  members of the Committee?

         13                 We have also been joined by Council

         14  Member Seabrook from the Bronx. Welcome.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 MR. WEISBROD: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: At this time the

         18  Committee will take a vote on this bill.

         19                 Immediately after we vote on the bill

         20  we will need to take a 20-minute recess, and I

         21  apologize to the people in advance, to the people

         22  who intend to testify on Intro. 116-A, but we do

         23  need to take a 20-minute break so that many of us

         24  can attend another meeting that's going

         25  concurrently, and we need to be there at least for a
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          2  brief period.

          3                 Okay, we will now take a vote on

          4  proposed Intro. 14-A.

          5                 The clerk will please call the roll.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: May I be

         10  temporarily excused to explain my vote?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Absolutely.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         13  Chairman Liu. I just wanted to thank you personally

         14  and publicly for all the work that you personally

         15  had done to assist and be involved in the

         16  labor-intensive negotiations.

         17                 I also want to thank the Counsel to

         18  this Committee who has worked countless hours on

         19  this complicated bill. I think that this is a bill

         20  that is really going to make a significant

         21  contribution to the quality of life in New York, and

         22  it's been a privilege to work with you, Chairman

         23  Liu, on this. Thank you. I vote aye.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Hold that thought

         25  for a second.
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          2                 Prior to passing this bill in this

          3  Committee we will actually need to consider an

          4  environmental impact statement, and there is a

          5  preconsidered resolution that I would ask our

          6  Committee members to vote on first.

          7                 This preconsidered resolution finds

          8  that the enactment of this proposed Intro. 14-A does

          9  not have a significant adverse impact on the

         10  environment and is consistent with the State

         11  Environmental Quality Review Act.

         12                 I believe all the Committee members

         13  have a copy of this, so I would call for a vote

         14  first on this preconsidered resolution on the

         15  Environmental Impact Statement, which basically says

         16  that there will be no adverse environmental impact.

         17                 The clerk will call the roll on this

         18  preconsidered resolution.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Martinez.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of eight in

         12  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         13  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

         15                 Now we will take a vote on proposed

         16  Intro. 14-A. The clerk will call the roll.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Aye.

         19                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Aye.

         23                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Aye.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Martinez.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Aye.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of eight in

         10  the affirmative, zero in the negative, no

         11  abstentions, the proposed Intro. is adopted.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Clerk, we will hold

         13  the vote open until Council Member Lanza and another

         14  Committee member will be able to join us.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 Thank you very much for coming down

         17  this morning. We will recess for 20 minutes, at

         18  which point we will then resume consideration of

         19  Intro. 116-A, and I would ask the witnesses to bear

         20  with us until then.

         21                 Thank you very much.

         22                 (Recess taken.)

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: This is the hearing

         24  of the Transportation Committee of the City Council.

         25  I want to thank the participants this morning for

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2  their patience, and for bearing with us while we get

          3  through all these budget meetings.

          4                 I'd like to call up the first panel

          5  of just a couple of panels. The first panel to

          6  testify about Intro. 116-A, and that will be Dan

          7  Steinberg from State Senator Liz Krueger's Office,

          8  and also Dr. Joy Zagoren from the East 79th Street

          9  Neighborhood Association.

         10                 And following this panel will be the

         11  Deputy Chief James McShane -- I apologize. Assistant

         12  Commissioner Susan Petito from the New York Police

         13  Department, and Noah Budnick from Transportation

         14  Alternatives.

         15                 Mr. Steinberg, welcome.

         16                 MR. STEINBERG: Thank you. Good

         17  morning. My name is Dan Steinberg. I'm here on

         18  behalf of the State Senator Liz Krueger. She asked

         19  that I read her testimony in the record today, and I

         20  thank you for the opportunity to do so.

         21                 Sidewalk cycling is a Citywide

         22  problem that has been particularly endemic in my

         23  district for years. At community meetings and during

         24  my district office hours, sidewalk safety has

         25  remained a paramount concern for my constituency.
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          2                 With bicycle messengers and a growing

          3  number of food delivery bicyclists weaving through

          4  densely populated streets, it is not surprising that

          5  many of my constituents are desperate for this issue

          6  to be adequately addressed. Despite repeated

          7  protests and periodic crackdowns by enforcement

          8  officials, this illegal use of sidewalks quickly

          9  resumes after these law enforcement efforts subside

         10  or are focused on other areas.

         11                 The law very clearly states that

         12  bicycle operation on sidewalks is prohibited and

         13  punitive measures exist to ensure that this issue is

         14  taken seriously.

         15                 However, police officers and other

         16  officials have historically found these measures to

         17  be difficult to enforce, largely because the

         18  language contained in the Administrative Code is

         19  vague and subject to varying interpretations.

         20                 For this reason I am pleased that

         21  City Council is considering amending Section 19-176

         22  of the City's Administrative Code so as to conform

         23  with other state and local laws.

         24                 It is imperative that police officers

         25  issue summonses when a bicycle is on the sidewalk,
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          2  and Initiative Number 116-A both clarifies what

          3  constitutes a civil penalty and a misdemeanor, while

          4  encouraging police officers to issue summonses by

          5  including language they are comfortable acting upon.

          6                 In addition to the measure under

          7  consideration today, I would also urge the City

          8  Council to review Section 10-157 of the City's

          9  Administrative Code regarding commercial cyclists.

         10                 The code currently requires bicycles

         11  used for commercial purposes to display the name and

         12  number of the business. Operators must wear upper

         13  body apparel with the business's name and operator's

         14  number, and are required to carry and produce on

         15  demand numbered ID cards with a photo, name, home

         16  address, and business' name, address and phone

         17  number.

         18                 In addition, businesses must maintain

         19  a logbook of all operators and trips and must file

         20  an annual report with the Police Department.

         21                 While Section 10-157 is strong on

         22  paper, it suffers from a lack of enforcement.

         23                 As Section 10-157 reads, a violation

         24  of any of these provisions is triable by a judge in

         25  Criminal Court. In practice, this has the effect of
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          2  discouraging police officers from handing out

          3  summonses. As the Transportation Committee wisely

          4  decided to propose revisions in Section 19-176 in

          5  order to make it easier to enforce, I encourage you

          6  to do the same for Section 10-157.

          7                 Enhancing enforcement of Section

          8  10-157 would be an important step in addressing the

          9  minimal oversight over businesses using delivery

         10  bicycles. It is imperative to place greater

         11  liability on the businesses whose bicyclists

         12  routinely ride on sidewalks and endanger

         13  pedestrians, making business owners responsible for

         14  the cyclists they are affiliated with, provides

         15  strong incentives for messenger services and

         16  restaurants to ensure that their cyclists are

         17  obeying traffic laws.

         18                 While these issues are under careful

         19  review by City Council, I am exploring tracking

         20  methods that would link the bicyclists with the

         21  establishments they are affiliated with, and am

         22  drafting legislation on the State level that would

         23  place greater liability on the businesses that own

         24  the bicycles.

         25                 I believe that by working together to
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          2  address these serious issues at both the City and

          3  State levels, we can alleviate the serious safety

          4  problems.

          5                 I appreciate the Council's important

          6  work and look forward to our collective efforts on

          7  this issue.

          8                 Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

         10  We will now hear from Dr. Joy Zagoren.

         11                 DR. ZAGOREN: Thank you. Thank you for

         12  giving me the opportunity to speak here again. I'm

         13  beginning to think I should rent a room.

         14                 Anyway, I have to commend the

         15  Council, (a) for realizing the bicycles really are a

         16  problem; and especially for having listened so

         17  carefully to the April meeting where you

         18  incorporated a lot of the suggestions that were

         19  publicly voiced at the April meeting into your new

         20  proposal, which is very good to see.

         21                 However, as happy as I am with it, it

         22  doesn't go far enough. I have been saying this since

         23  Charles Millard was Council member, that's a lot of

         24  years ago.

         25                 I truly believe that the only way
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          2  we're ever going to get any modicum of control of

          3  the bicycles in this City is to do what the whole

          4  State of California has done, what Houston has done,

          5  what Minneapolis has done, what other cities have

          6  done, is to license our bicycles.

          7                 Houston does it very simply. You take

          8  your bicycle to the Fire Department. You register

          9  your bicycle number and you get a license. You put

         10  money into your City till, Bloomberg should love

         11  that one, I think we all should.

         12                 The problem with the bicycles now as

         13  many laws as we make is truly the enforcement

         14  problem. Unless there happens to be an enforcement

         15  officer on the street when a bicyclist is committing

         16  one of these felony problems or misdemeanors,

         17  whichever we want to call them. There is no

         18  recourse. If you had a license and someone goes by

         19  you on the sidewalk, you could take that number down

         20  and even report it. If you see it frequently it

         21  makes it even more reportable. And usually it's the

         22  same bicycles in one's neighborhood that you see

         23  over and over again with no store name, no

         24  identification, and no way of knowing.

         25                 I know I have this terrible habit of
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          2  yelling at bicycles that are on the sidewalk,

          3  yelling "you shouldn't be on the sidewalk." One day

          4  I suspect they are going to turn around and slap me

          5  around a bit, but it doesn't do any good, they just

          6  keep flying away on their bicycles again.

          7                 I really think that if we could find

          8  a way to license them, take this one step further

          9  than we've done now, which is wonderful, up as far

         10  as it goes, but it might allow for better

         11  enforcement.

         12                 When I spoke to the 19th Precinct

         13  prior to the April meeting, we had a nice long chat,

         14  the Transportation Officer and I, and he said they

         15  average about, he gave me the numbers, for about 16

         16  months, which averages to about 250 citations a

         17  month. These are C citations, which means they must

         18  appear in court.

         19                 I said, "Do they appear?" He said,

         20  "If they give us the right name and address." He

         21  said, "They have no identification on the bicycles,

         22  and very often they give you the wrong name and

         23  address and you have no recourse."

         24                 So, even though you are now enforcing

         25  it, it's still not working. But if they had a
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          2  license that you can refer back to the name and

          3  address, it might work a little bit better and make

          4  the streets a little bit safer.

          5                 Thank you so much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          7  for your time this morning.

          8                 Do we have any brief questions from

          9  the members of the Committee?

         10                 Thank you for coming down.

         11                 DR. ZAGOREN: Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Mr. Chairman,

         13  because a meeting is starting that I don't want to

         14  miss, I wonder if I could have the courtesy of being

         15  able to vote on the measure?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I think that I would

         17  ask for just another few minutes of patience from

         18  the members of this Committee.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: But, you

         20  know, I'll come back if you hold the roll open.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: I will hold the roll

         22  open.

         23                 We have two more people to testify on

         24  Intro. 116-A, after which we will then take a vote.

         25                 Assistant Commissioner Susan Petito,
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          2  from the New York Police Department, and then

          3  following her we will hear from Noah Budnick from

          4  Transportation Alternatives.

          5                 Assistant Commissioner, welcome. And

          6  thank you for your patience this morning.

          7                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Thank

          8  you, Mr. Chairman. I'm Assistant Commissioner Susan

          9  Petito from the New York City Police Department, and

         10  I'm very happy to represent Commissioner Raymond

         11  Kelly today and speak on behalf of the Police

         12  Department regarding Intro. No. 116-A.

         13                 We've worked very closely with your

         14  staff, and I appreciate the effort that you've gone

         15  to to address our concerns with the bill, and as

         16  late as about a half an hour ago, we discussed some

         17  changes that we would recommend to the bill. I'll

         18  just briefly outline them.

         19                 The first one concerns the new

         20  language which has been added to the version I

         21  received today at the very beginning of the bill,

         22  which in Subdivision B it says that "a person who

         23  violates this subdivision shall be issued a notice

         24  of violation," and we would request that that

         25  language be changed to the word may instead of
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          2  "shall" to preserve the discretion of the issuing

          3  officer because a police officer always has the

          4  discretion whether or not to make an arrest or issue

          5  a summons, and so we would like that discretion to

          6  be preserved on a case-by-case basis.

          7                 The other concern that we had was

          8  with respect to the affirmative defense that's

          9  offered in Subdivision C, and we understand, from

         10  conversation with the staff, that that affirmative

         11  defense is interpreted and will be interpreted to

         12  apply only to the enhanced penalty of the physical

         13  contact that is in subdivision C. That's what we

         14  understand the intent to be, and, so, we will just

         15  note that concern, that it appears a little bit

         16  broader than that but we'll just see how it plays

         17  out as it's enforced and adjudicated. But there is a

         18  more specific concern that we have with that

         19  affirmative defense in that if there are multiple

         20  causes of the physical contact, we're concerned that

         21  a rider might get the advantage of the physical, of

         22  the affirmative defense, even if say they were

         23  speeding down a wet street and they hit a wet

         24  sidewalk and they hit somebody, they could claim

         25  that the cause of the physical contact was the
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          2  puddle that they skidded on, but they were also

          3  speeding. What we would like to do is suggest

          4  different language, that in no way could the rider

          5  be at fault in order to get the benefit of that

          6  affirmative defense.

          7                 And with those changes, we're very

          8  comfortable with the language of the bill and we

          9  commend your staff on its hard work.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you. And thank

         12  you for working with us to fashion legislation that

         13  will benefit the public and at the same time be

         14  practical in terms of enforcement.

         15                 I believe that there has been some --

         16  Committee members, there has been some slight

         17  modification to the wording in this proposed Intro.

         18  116-A, and perhaps at this time I can ask Mitch

         19  Schwartz, our Legislative Counsel for this

         20  Committee, to outline those changes.

         21                 MR. SCHWARTZ: The textual changes to

         22  the bill, there are two of them. The first one comes

         23  in subdivision B of Section 19-176. The second

         24  sentence will now read as follows:

         25                 "A person who violates this
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          2  subdivision shall be authorized..." Hold on one

          3  second. Scratch that.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Mr. Chair?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: What page are

          7  you reading?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We are on the third

          9  to the last page of the briefing paper. That is the

         10  actual text of proposed Intro. 116-A.

         11                 MR. SCHWARTZ: Okay, subdivision B of

         12  Section 19-176, the second sentence shall now read

         13  as follows: "A person who violates this subdivision

         14  may be issued a notice of violation and shall be

         15  liable for a civil penalty of not more than $100

         16  which may be recovered in a proceeding before the

         17  Environmental Control Board.

         18                 The second change to the bill is in

         19  subdivision C of Section 19-176. The last sentence

         20  shall read as follows: "It shall be an affirmative

         21  defense that physical contact between a rider and

         22  another person was in no way the fault of the

         23  rider."

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Okay, so, basically

         25  we have two changes to proposed Intro. Number 116-A
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          2  as it stands before you, Committee members.

          3                 The first change simply being a

          4  change in a word, a change from the word "shall" to

          5  the word "may" in the second sentence of the second

          6  paragraph.

          7                 The second and final change to this

          8  bill is a change in the last sentence of paragraph C

          9  of Section 2, and it simply adds the three words "in

         10  no way" into the sentence, so that, again, as Mitch

         11  Schwartz pointed out, it will now say, "It shall be

         12  an affirmative defense that physical contact between

         13  a rider and another person was in no way the result

         14  of some cause other than the fault of the rider."

         15                 Excuse me. It's actually a

         16  replacement. So, those three words, "in no way" --

         17  "in no way the," those four words, would be

         18  replacing the words "the result of some cause other

         19  than..."

         20                 So, let me read the sentence again.

         21  It will say, "It shall be an affirmative defense

         22  that physical contact between a rider and another

         23  person was in no way the fault of the rider."

         24                 Would that alleviate the concerns of

         25  the Department, Assistant Commissioner?
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          2                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Yes.

          3  Thank you very much. We're very happy with those

          4  changes. We appreciate your consideration.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          6                 Are there any questions from the

          7  Committee members? Thank you very much for joining

          8  us today.

          9                 ASSISTANT COMMISSIONER PETITO: Thank

         10  you, Mr. Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: We will now hear the

         12  final witness on this bill, Noah Budnick, from

         13  Transportation Alternatives.

         14                 MR. BUDNICK: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         15                 Thank you, members of the Committee,

         16  for being patient this morning.

         17                 My name is Noah Budnick, I'm the

         18  Projects Director for Transportation Alternatives.

         19  We're the City's advocates for cyclists, pedestrians

         20  and sensible transportation.

         21                 The new Intro. 116-A shows a much

         22  better parity between motor vehicle law and cycling

         23  law that was demonstrated in the existing law. And I

         24  hope that this Council will continue towards better

         25  parity between motor vehicles and bicycles on other
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          2  issues such as safe space on the streets, secure

          3  parking at the workplace, and safe and convenient

          4  access to the many river crossings in New York City.

          5                 However, this parity is a relatively

          6  minor issue and has received a questionable amount

          7  of attention.

          8                 In an average year in New York City,

          9  motor vehicles kill ten pedestrians on the sidewalk

         10  and injure at least 600. In the same average year,

         11  bicyclists kill no pedestrians, and injure fewer

         12  than 200 pedestrians. In the same average year,

         13  motor vehicles kill 200 pedestrians and injure

         14  11,000 pedestrians in the street.

         15                 In the last five months this Council

         16  has had zero hearings on street safety, zero

         17  hearings on cars on sidewalks, and two hearings on

         18  bicycles on sidewalks.

         19                 This is wrong, and the Council must

         20  do better.

         21                 The public deserves representatives

         22  to address these problems logically, not based on

         23  frustration.

         24                 The Council has been concerned about

         25  sidewalk cycling for a number of years, and we, too,
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          2  are tired of seeing bicycles threatening and

          3  endangering pedestrians on the sidewalks.

          4                 As pedestrians and cycling advocates,

          5  nothing is worse for us than having a pedestrian's

          6  image of a cyclist as one who is threatening to run

          7  them off the sidewalk. An adult cyclist should not

          8  be on the sidewalk, period.

          9                 Before the Council revises the

         10  sidewalk cycling laws for a third time in less than

         11  ten years, Transportation Alternatives urges the

         12  Transportation Committee to undertake a thorough

         13  examination of current sidewalk cycling conditions.

         14                 In order to logically analyze and

         15  sensibly deter sidewalk cycling, the following

         16  information needs to be obtained from the Police

         17  Department and other appropriate agencies.

         18                 First, how many pedestrians have been

         19  injured or killed by sidewalk cyclists since the

         20  existing law was enacted in 1996? By Citywide

         21  statistics, by borough and in problem neighborhoods,

         22  like the Upper East Side?

         23                 How many summonses for sidewalk

         24  cycling has the Police Department issued since

         25  existing law was enacted in 1996? How many of those
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          2  summonses were appealed? How many were reappealled

          3  and how many upheld?

          4                 Are restaurants and delis that employ

          5  bicycle delivery people held accountable for their

          6  employee sidewalk cycling under NYC Administrative

          7  Code 10-157, which mandates that businesses must

          8  submit an annual log of bicycle delivery people and

          9  delivery trips to the police?

         10                 How many summonses have been issued

         11  for non-compliance with this Administrative Code

         12  since 1996? And are businesses penalized for not

         13  educating employees about the City's bicycles rules

         14  and regulations?

         15                 And, finally, does the City have an

         16  educational campaign for businesses that teach their

         17  employees about safe cycling?

         18                 Today's amendment, Intro. 116-A, is

         19  the third version of New York City's sidewalk

         20  cycling law. No matter how many times this law is

         21  revised, it is not going to begin to curb the blight

         22  of sidewalk cyclists many neighborhoods must live

         23  with.

         24                 Transportation Alternatives opposes

         25  the severe punishments included in Intro. 116-A,
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          2  which categorizes -- which proposes that bicycle

          3  riding on sidewalks in a manner that endangers any

          4  other person or property as a criminal misdemeanor

          5  punishable by a fine from $200 to $600 and up to 20

          6  days in jail. Thus, any person convicted acquires a

          7  criminal record.

          8                 Given the concerns over excessive

          9  sentencing and the awareness of police harassment of

         10  young men of color this Council has shown, the City

         11  Council should be more considerate of this excessive

         12  punishment's implications, for a misdemeanor is a

         13  parole violation which will put the parolee back in

         14  jail.

         15                 In addition, Intro. 116-A's excessive

         16  fines and jail time inflict undue burdens on

         17  immigrants, many of whom work as bicycle delivery

         18  people, and a misdemeanor charge and subsequent

         19  criminal record makes it harder to receive legal

         20  living status in the US and a criminal record can

         21  make deportation much easier.

         22                 Neither fines nor criminal punishment

         23  will deter a sidewalk cycling.  As my colleague from

         24  Senator Krueger's office pointed out, heightened

         25  enforcement in problem areas, in addition to more
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          2  stern laws that hold employers responsible for the

          3  quality of life violation are necessary steps to

          4  make sidewalks safer for pedestrians.

          5                 On a side note, I would like to point

          6  out that delivery people can be easily tracked down

          7  to their employers by obtaining either menus or the

          8  receipts that they're always carrying, but the point

          9  is that a higher level of enforcement should be

         10  combined with educational campaigns targeted at

         11  business owners, and intended to instruct their

         12  commercial cyclists about the City's laws.

         13                 Attached to this testimony is a

         14  handout from Transportation Alternatives' "Give

         15  Respect/Get Respect" program. This program educates

         16  cyclists about yielding to pedestrians not riding on

         17  sidewalks and not riding against traffic.

         18                 As you can see, we've done this in

         19  multiple languages. It's been very successful

         20  working in specific neighborhoods where this is a

         21  problem.

         22                 Transportation Alternatives has long

         23  supported efforts to stop sidewalk cycling and to

         24  preserve the sidewalk for pedestrians. Proper

         25  enforcement is key. If every beat officer in New
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          2  York City actively discouraged sidewalk cyclists,

          3  the problem would certainly diminish.

          4                 Thank you all for your time.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

          7  for your time coming down here.

          8                 MR. BUDNICK: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And let me just say

         10  that although you brought up a multitude of other

         11  issues, the City Council felt that we needed to act

         12  on issues of sidewalk safety, and, hence, we passed

         13  legislation in this Committee on Newsracks, and

         14  hopefully we will be passing legislation to make the

         15  sidewalk safer from bicycles.

         16                 As an avid bike rider myself, I can

         17  certainly empathize with you that we do need to

         18  bring more parity for bicycle riders, but not on the

         19  sidewalks.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 Are there any questions from members

         22  of the Committee?

         23                 There being none, and there being no

         24  more witnesses, will the clerk please call the roll

         25  on this.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            60

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Point of

          3  information on this?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Sure. Council Member

          5  Sanders.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Council

          7  Member Koppell is next door and he asked to come in,

          8  that he wanted to vote also.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes, and I believe

         10  he will join us shortly.

         11                 Will the clerk please call the roll.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK: Addabbo.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO: Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Reyna.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA: Yes.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Martinez.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Seabrook.

         25                 Seabrook?

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON TRANSPORTATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEABROOK: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sears.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lanza.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Aye.

          7                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of ten in

         10  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         11  abstentions, the item is adopted. Please sign the

         12  Committee report.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And will the clerk

         14  continue the roll for proposed Intro. 14-A.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Sanders.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL CLERK: Lanza.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER LANZA: Thank you, Mr.

         19  Chair, for holding this vote open. I was late coming

         20  from a funeral on Staten Island, and I thank you for

         21  keeping this open, and I vote no on 14-A.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: And I would also ask

         23  the members of the Council, Council Member Sanders

         24  and Lanza, to vote on preconsidered motion that

         25  basically stipulates there is no adverse
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          2  environmental impact that would be caused by

          3  proposed Intro. 14-A.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS: I vote yes.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you.

          6                 Are there any other comments on

          7  proposed Intro. 116-A?

          8                 Okay, thank you. And now we will hear

          9  testimony on Intro. 157, a bill that would regulate

         10  or perhaps further regulate and prohibit the

         11  operation standing or parking of mobile billboards.

         12                 We have one witness to testify on

         13  this bill today. I am pleased to welcome Deputy

         14  Chief James McShane from the New York Police

         15  Department.

         16                 Welcome, Deputy Chief.

         17                 DEPUTY CHIEF McSHANE: Please proceed,

         18  Deputy Chief.

         19                 Good morning, Mr. Chairman, and

         20  members of the Committee. I'm Deputy Chief James

         21  McShane, the Commanding Officer of the Traffic

         22  Control Division of the New York City Police

         23  Department.

         24                 I am pleased to be here today on

         25  behalf of Police Commissioner Raymond Kelly to
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          2  discuss Intro. No. 157, which would prohibit the

          3  operation standing or parking of mobile billboards.

          4  The purpose of this legislation is laudable. Mobile

          5  billboards pose a public safety threat, not only

          6  because of their capacity to distract drivers and

          7  pedestrians on our streets, but also because their

          8  size and operation exacerbates the congestion in our

          9  already crowded urban setting.

         10                 That is why the Police Department

         11  issues the appropriate summonses and seizes these

         12  vehicles pursuant to the New York City traffic rules

         13  when we become aware of their presence on a City

         14  street.

         15                 New York City Traffic Rule Section

         16  4-12(j) prohibits the operation, standing or parking

         17  of any vehicle on any street or roadway for the

         18  purpose of commercial advertising.

         19                 There are reasonable exceptions

         20  contained in the rule for vehicles which are used

         21  for delivery or normal business purposes.

         22                 Our procedures call for summonsing,

         23  seizing and towing the mobile billboard, as well as

         24  documenting the advertising purpose by describing

         25  the advertisement in writing on the summons, and by
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          2  photographing the vehicle.

          3                 It is our firm belief that the

          4  summonsing and seizing of these vehicles has

          5  dramatically reduced their appearance on City

          6  streets.

          7                 It would therefore seem that Intro.

          8  No. 157 substantially duplicates an existing rule

          9  which has withstood court challenges.

         10                 If the intent of the bill is to

         11  create higher penalties for operation of the

         12  vehicle, as opposed to it standing or being parked,

         13  then we would suggest that the language of the

         14  traffic rule be used in conjunction with higher

         15  penalties, rather than to rewrite the language

         16  entirely.

         17                 However, it should be noted that if

         18  the new violation remains a traffic infraction,

         19  higher penalties will be subject to the maximums

         20  allowed under the penalty schedule of the Traffic

         21  Violations Bureau, as determined by the New York

         22  State Vehicle and Traffic Law. And, therefore, any

         23  penalties over the maximums allowed under state law

         24  would be unenforceable.

         25                 With respect to the actual language
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          2  of Intro. No. 157, we would like to note some

          3  concerns.

          4                 First, the bill as drafted may be

          5  overbroad in its definition of a mobile billboard.

          6                 The bill would include any writing or

          7  picture on a vehicle, such as slogans, detailing,

          8  drawing, flags, et cetera, since they would be,

          9  "other than those required by law."

         10                 The language of the bill may have the

         11  effect of encompassing passenger vehicles, which may

         12  not be the intended targets of the legislation, and

         13  may also not survive constitutional scrutiny.

         14                 The bill also fails to include the

         15  vehicles which are exempted in traffic rule section

         16  4-12(j), such as New York City buses and taxis.

         17                 Additionally, the bill would not seem

         18  to cover vehicles designed to transport people

         19  rather than property, which could provide a loophole

         20  in enforcement.

         21                 We are also uncertain as to the

         22  meaning of the definition of trailer, since it is

         23  not apparent what is meant by "being told by a

         24  non-rigid support."

         25                 The aspect of the bill which
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          2  increases penalties based on multiple prior

          3  violations, articulates a desirable result, but

          4  would only apply if the same operator received the

          5  summons multiple times.

          6                 There is no liability on the part of

          7  the owner of the vehicle for this enhanced penalty

          8  section.

          9                 In addition, the bill makes these

         10  penalties recoverable in the proceedings before the

         11  Traffic Violations Bureau.

         12                 To our knowledge, the Traffic

         13  Violations Bureau, does not have the jurisdiction to

         14  adjudicate such civil penalties, and, again, is

         15  limited by its own penalty schedule.

         16                 We thank you for the opportunity to

         17  comment on Intro. No. 157 and are available to work

         18  with you to address these issues.

         19                 I am pleased now to answer any

         20  questions that you may have.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much

         22  for, first, your patience today, and, second, for

         23  your very thoughtful comments.

         24                 I believe you do have some very valid

         25  points, and I know that this Committee wants to work
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          2  closely with you to once again fashion legislation

          3  that is workable and will benefit the public.

          4                 DEPUTY CHIEF McSHANE: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LIU: Thank you very much.

          7                 There being no other witnesses on any

          8  of the matters before this Committee today, the

          9  meeting is now adjourned.

         10                 (Hearing concluded at 12:30 p.m.)
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          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 29th day of May 2002.
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